Case 2022AP000186 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-16-2022 Page 1 of 23

FILED 05-16-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Appellate Case No. 2022AP186

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-VS-

#### NICHOLAS A. PAULSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

# APPEAL FROM AN ORDER OF JUDGMENT ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DUNN COUNTY, BRANCH II, THE HONORABLE RONALD W. SMELTZER PRESIDING, TRIAL COURT CASE NO. 18-TR-8068

#### **BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT**

#### **MELOWSKI & SINGH, LLC**

Dennis M. Melowski State Bar No. 1021187

524 South Pier Drive Sheboygan, Wisconsin 53081 Tel. 920.208.3800 Fax 920.395.2443 dennis@melowskilaw.com

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

WHETHER THE ARRESTING OFFICER IN THE INSTANT CASE LACKED PROBABLE CAUSE TO ARREST MR. PAULSON IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION?

<u>Trial Court Answered</u>: NO. A sufficient basis existed to establish probable cause to arrest Mr. Paulson based upon the fact that: (1) even though the protocols for administering the horizontal gaze nystagmus test were not "specifically follow[ed]," subjective observations relating to the test may be used to "determine if there is probable cause"; (2) Mr. Paulson stepped off the line and turned improperly during the walk-and-turn test; (3) Mr. Paulson "appeared" to have "some balance" issues during the one-leg stand; (4) Mr. Paulson made "a couple of small errors" in the non-standardized field sobriety tests; and (5) other subjective indicia of impairment, such as bloodshot eyes and an odor of intoxicants, were also present in the instant case. R79 at 3:9 to 5:25; D-App. at 104-06.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The Defendant-Appellant will NOT REQUEST oral argument as this appeal presents a question relating to the lower court's interpretation of a set of facts which are well established in the record. The issue presented is of a nature that can be addressed by the application of long-standing legal principles to these facts, the type of which would not be enhanced by oral argument.

#### STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The Defendant-Appellant will NOT REQUEST publication of this Court's decision as the common law at issue in this matter is fully developed, and therefore, publication would do little, if anything, to enhance the relevant body of jurisprudence.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Paulson was charged in Dunn County with both Operating a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of an Intoxicant—First Offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a), and Operating a Motor Vehicle with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration—First Offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b), arising out of an incident which occurred on November 23, 2018. R5.

Case 2022AP000186 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-16-2022 Page 7 of 23

After retaining private counsel, Mr. Paulson filed several pretrial motions, including a motion challenging whether the law enforcement officer in the instant matter had probable cause to arrest him and whether the results of the horizontal gaze nystagmus field sobriety test ought to be excluded from admission at trial pursuant to, *inter alia*, Wis. Stat. § 904.03. R24 & R25, respectively. An evidentiary hearing was held on Mr. Paulson's motion on July 18, 2019, at which the arresting officer, Trooper Brett Boley, testified as the State's only witness. R30 at pp. 3-47. Beyond the trooper's testimony, the video recording captured by the trooper's forward-mounted squad camera was marked and received as Exhibit No.1 at the hearing. R29.

After the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Paulson filed a supplemental brief in support of his motions. R31. On September 12, 2019, the circuit court issued an oral decision denying Mr. Paulson's motions. R79 at 3:9 to 5:25; D-App. at 104-06.

Mr. Paulson's case proceeded to a jury trial on October 1, 2020, at which he was found guilty of both the operating while intoxicated offense and of the operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration offense. R98; D-App. at 101.

It is from the adverse decision of the circuit court on Mr. Paulson's pretrial motions that he now appeals to this Court by Notice of Appeal filed on February 7, 2022. R94.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Trooper Boley made contact with Mr. Paulson because he had been dispatched to a scene where a "911 call [indicated] a subject . . . had jumped out of a moving pickup and had sustained injuries." R30 at 4:19-21. After arriving on the scene of the incident, Trooper Boley learned that it was Mr. Paulson who made the emergency call to the 911 dispatcher because "his wife jumped out of the vehicle as it was moving down the road." R30 at 5:15-22; 23:23 to 24:12. Trooper Boley testified that Mrs. Paulson had jumped from the vehicle "of her own volition." R30 at 24:18-21.

Upon making contact with Mr. Paulson, Trooper Boley allegedly observed that Mr. Paulson's speech was "thickly slurred" and that he had an odor of intoxicants emanating from his person. R30 at 6:2-16. Additionally, Trooper Boley noted that there were approximately twelve cans missing from a thirty-six pack of

Case 2022AP000186 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-16-2022 Page 8 of 23

beer. R30 at 7:4-19. The trooper did not, however, observe any open or empty cans of beer in the vehicle. R30 at 7:20-22; 27:17-24.

Based upon the foregoing observations, Trooper Boley asked Mr. Paulson whether he had been drinking, to which Mr. Paulson responded that he consumed six to twelve beers. R30 at 7:23 to 8:5. Despite observing the beer in Mr. Paulson's truck, Trooper Boley never bothered to inquire who consumed the missing beer or when those beverages might have been consumed. R30 at 26:7-12. At this time, the trooper also claims to have observed that Mr. Paulson's eyes were bloodshot and glassy. R30 at 8:6-11. Thereafter, Trooper Boley asked Mr. Paulson to submit to a battery of field sobriety tests, to which request Mr. Paulson consented. R30 at 9:2-4.

The first field sobriety test to which Mr. Paulson submitted was the horizontal gaze nystagmus [hereinafter "HGN"] test. R30 at 9:18-19. According to Trooper Boley, Mr. Paulson displayed six of six possible clues on this test. R30 at 9:23 to 11:14; R29 at Elapsed Time 25:25, *et seq*.

Upon completing the HGN test, a vertical gaze nystagmus test was administered as well which, according to the trooper, was positive for the presence of vertical nystagmus. R30 at 11:15 to 12:3. Trooper Boley next had Mr. Paulson perform a walk-and-turn [hereinafter "WAT"] test, during which Mr. Paulson allegedly displayed four of eight possible clues according to the trooper. R30 at 12:4 to 14:16; R29 at Elapsed Time 27:21, *et seq*.

The next test administered to Mr. Paulson was a one-leg stand [hereinafter "OLS"] test. R30 at 14:17 to 15:14. Trooper Boley observed no clues of impairment during this test. R30 at 15:11-14. Mr. Paulson was then asked to recite the alphabet from the letter "E" to the letter "P." R30 at 15:18 to 16:2; R29 at Elapsed Time 30:10, et seq. During this test, Mr. Paulson mistakenly said the letter "P" instead of the letter "G" after he began, however, he immediately caught himself and corrected his error by beginning the test again and successfully reciting the alphabet from "E" to "P." R30 at 16:4-6. The last field sobriety test administered to Mr. Paulson was to count backward from "64" to "49." R30 at 16:9-15; R29 at Elapsed Time 30:10, et seq. According to the trooper, Mr. Paulson skipped one number and counted to "47." R30 at 16:16-19.

At this time, prior to the administration of a preliminary breath test, Trooper Boley concluded that he had sufficient facts upon which to take Mr. Paulson into custody for operating a motor vehicle while impaired. R30 at 17:1-10.

Case 2022AP000186 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-16-2022 Page 9 of 23

The foregoing facts do not stand in a vacuum, however. Other facts of particular relevance to the issue Mr. Paulson raises on appeal include the following:

There are significant deviations between Trooper Boley's testimony regarding his administration of the HGN and what actually occurred on the night of Mr. Paulson's arrest which are explored in Section I.A., *infra*.

The State did not elicit any evidence from Trooper Boley that Mr. Paulson's mentation was impaired. Nowhere within the record is there any testimony that Mr. Paulson misunderstood Trooper Boley; had difficulty understanding directions being given to him; or was otherwise mentally slow or confused.

There is no allegation of bad driving on Mr. Paulson's part. Mr. Paulson's wife alit from the vehicle while it was moving on her own volition. R30 at 24:18-21.

Trooper Boley admitted that he "**never** noted any swaying [on Mr. Paulson's part or] . . . any uncoordination [*sic*]," and this was on a road that Trooper Boley conceded was "a little bit slick . . . ." R30 at 31:1-10.

Similarly, Trooper Boley stated that he is trained to look for "orbiting" (circular swaying) during the HGN test, but in Mr. Paulson's case, he never observed him to be orbiting. R30 at 44:9-24.

Regarding the walk-and-turn test, Trooper Boley claims Mr. Paulson failed this test, but upon closer examination of Exhibit No. 1 (R29) from the motion hearing, portions of the trooper's claim of failure are "nitpicky." For example, the trooper admitted that when he claimed that Mr. Paulson's steps were not "heel to toe," that was based upon the fact that the toe of his trailing foot would come slightly alongside the heel of his lead foot, and *not* that there was a "gap." R30 at 36:1-7. Likewise, the trooper testified that Mr. Paulson took the correct number of steps, did not stagger, wobble, sway, stop to steady himself, or otherwise use his arms for balance. R30 at 36:16 to 37:3. Mr. Paulson's alleged deficiency with the turn on this test "had nothing to do with his balance," but rather was deemed a "clue" by the trooper simply because he used both of his feet to turn rather than keeping one foot planted. R30 at 37:24 to 38:3. Finally, Mr. Paulson remained in perfect instructional stance for forty-three (43) seconds at the beginning of this test. R29 at Elapsed Time 27:21 to 28:04.

Mr. Paulson exhibited absolutely no clues on the OLS test. R30 at 15:11-14.

Trooper Boley alleges that Mr. Paulson had "thickly slurred speech" on the night of his encounter with him. R30 at 6:3-9. An objective review of the video record in this case, however, demonstrates that throughout the entire encounter between Mr. Paulson and the trooper, Mr. Paulson can be clearly heard and that no such "thick slurring" exists anywhere in the audio record. R29, *passim*. In fact, at one point during cross-examination when an audio portion of the record was played in court, Trooper Boley conceded that he could "clearly hear Mr. Paulson" responding to his questions. R30 at 28:17-23.

Beyond the foregoing, it is of particular import to this appeal to note that Mr. Paulson is a wounded military veteran. R30 at 33:13-15. When Trooper Boley

asked Mr. Paulson whether he had any medical conditions which "might cause him some difficulty on [the field sobriety] tests," Mr. Paulson informed Trooper Boley that he had shrapnel in his neck and back from being wounded during combat. R30 at 33:3 to 34:15.

Ultimately, the circuit court concluded that probable cause to arrest Mr. Paulson existed under the totality of the circumstances. R79 at pp. 4-6; D-App. at 104-06.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW ON APPEAL

This appeal presents a question relating to whether the circuit court's findings of fact are clearly erroneous and therefore, do not rise to the level of providing a law enforcement officer with probable cause to arrest. Because the court's findings of fact are at issue, this Court will not upset those finding unless they are "clearly erroneous," whereupon it determines *de novo* whether the constitutional standard of probable cause has been satisfied by the adjudicative facts. *State v. Kutz*, 2003 WI App 205, ¶ 13, 267 Wis. 2d 531, 671 N.W.2d 660.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. FACTUAL BASIS FOR CONCLUDING THAT THE LOWER COURT'S FINDINGS ARE "CLEARLY ERRONEOUS."

Mr. Paulson acknowledges that he has a significant burden when it comes to establishing that the lower court's findings of fact are clearly erroneous. Nevertheless, there are numerous considerations which weigh heavily against the circuit court's findings.

First, the lower court's disregard of the pervasive and serious defects in the administration of the HGN test undermines the credibility of its findings. In a twist of "logic" which resembles Escher's famous "Ascending and Descending" lithograph more than it does any axiom of reason, the circuit court acknowledged that "[i]t is clear to the court that at least if you read the manual and you watch Trooper Boley administer the HGN, he wasn't specifically following exactly what the standards reflect." R79 at 4:7-11; D-App. at 105. Despite recognizing the clear defects in the administration of the HGN test—and contrary to the common law—the court found that there was "some evidence that was extracted from the HGN test that allowed Trooper Boley to incorporate that into his evidence that he was gathering that would support or not support to place Mr. Paulson under arrest." R79 at 4:15-22; D-App. at 105. The court never, however, identified what it was that was salvageable from the plainly mis-administered HGN test. It simply—and vaguely—

concluded that whatever portions of the test did not follow protocol, the remaining parts still permitted the trooper to draw conclusions. Relying on the HGN test in this undefined, piecemeal fashion is not only contrary to the law, but additionally, does not protect the fundamental Fourth Amendment rights Mr. Paulson possesses in the fashion the Constitution requires. *See* Section II.A. & C., *infra*.

The video record in this case *objectively* shows Trooper Boley significantly deviating from the standardized protocols of the HGN test as developed by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. *See* NHTSA, *DWI Detection and Standardized Field Sobriety Testing (SFST) Manual*, Session VIII (Rev. 10/2015)[hereinafter "NHTSA Manual"]. The NHTSA standardized guidelines impose the following parameters upon the administration of an HGN test:

- (A) In order for an HGN test to yield valid results, officers must "always begin with [a] subject's left eye," and "position the stimulus approximately 12–15 inches from the suspect's nose and slightly above eye level" for each component test. NHTSA Manual, Session VIII, at p.27 (emphasis added).
- (B) The first component test, assessing for medical impairment, requires the officer to smoothly move the stimulus back and forth across the subject's field of vision several times. With each pass, the officer looks for equal pupil size, the presence of resting nystagmus, and whether the eyes track the stimulus together in an attempt to rule out any other cause of nystagmus observed. Each eye is checked twice.
- (C) When conducting the second component test, smooth pursuit, the officer must begin with the left eye and "move the stimulus smoothly at a speed that requires approximately two seconds to bring the subject's eye as far to the side as it can go." *Id.* The stimulus is then moved back to center taking another two seconds before checking the right eye. During this component test, each eye is checked twice. *Id.*
- (D) When conducting the third component test, distinct and sustained nystagmus at maximum deviation, the officer must again begin by examining the left eye. *Id.* at 39. After moving the stimulus right from center until the left eye has gone as far to the left side as possible, **the officer must hold the stimulus at maximum deviation for at least four seconds before moving the stimulus back to center**. The officer then examines the right eye by moving the stimulus left from center until the right eye has gone as far to the right as possible. Each eye is checked twice. *Id.* In other words, the officer must examine each eye only as it moves as far to the *outside* as possible.
- (E) When checking for onset of nystagmus prior to 45° degrees, the final test component, the officer again begins with the left eye by moving the stimulus to the right but at a much slower rate than in previous component tests. Taking approximately four seconds for the stimulus to reach the subject's shoulder from center, the officer must look for the moment when nystagmus begins. *Id.* at 43-45. Again, each eye is checked twice.

NHTSA Manual, Session VIII, at 27-45 (emphasis added).

Among the most serious problems which the objective video record reveals relates to the trooper's timing of his passes of the stimulus through Mr. Paulson's field of vision. For the purpose of assessing whether the first "clue" exists on the HGN test, *i.e.*, whether Mr. Paulson's eyes display a lack of smooth pursuit when tracking the stimulus, the stimulus is to be moved at a rate of two seconds out and two seconds back as noted above and as trooper Boley acknowledged. R30 at 41:23 to 42:1. This requires that the stimulus traverse the field of vision for each individual eye for a *minimum* four seconds. R30 at 42:16-18. When questioned on cross-examination, Trooper Boley admitted that he did *not* perform this element of the HGN test as required, and in fact, moved the stimulus *at least twice as fast* as it should have been moved through Mr. Paulson's field of vision. R30 at 42:21-25.

This admission is especially disconcerting in this case because, as Trooper Boley conceded, "[f]alse positives could occur if you move [the stimulus] too fast." R30 at 41:12-13. Based upon this fact alone, in conjunction with the NHTSA Manual's commentary on the test being "valid[]...only when" the "tests are administered in the prescribed, standardized manner," the HGN test result should not have formed part of the basis of the lower court's decision. This problem with the administration of the test, however, was not the only deviation from the "prescribed, standardized manner" in which it should be administered.

Trooper Boley also acknowledged that the stimulus should pass in front of a subject's eyes at a distance of twelve to fifteen inches from the person's face. R30 at 40:15-19. Trooper Boley claimed he complied with the rigors of his training by "starting out" at the appropriate distance, but that any deviation therefrom is simply due to the fact that the stimulus is moving away from Mr. Paulson's face. R30 at 40:8-12. The video record in this case, however, clearly reveals that Trooper Boley was holding the stimulus *far* in excess of the required twelve to fifteen inches, undermining the validity of the test on yet another front. R29 at Elapsed Time 25:25, *et seq*.

Similarly, the veracity of Trooper Boley's account is called into further question. The trooper averred on cross-examination that when checking for the second and third clues on the HGN test, one is supposed to move the stimulus out from center using a sweep of "a *minimum* four seconds," which he claims he did, but which the objective video record in this case reveals he did not. R30 at 43:6-9; 44:1-3; R29 at Elapsed Time 25:25, *et seq*. Apparently, Trooper Boley suffered from a temporal deficit when he testified because the objective time stamp on the video record does not come close to showing a *minimum* eight-second (four seconds out plus four back) sweep being employed by the trooper. R29 at Elapsed Time

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>NHTSA Manual, Session VIII, at p.13.

25:25, et seq. After being pressed on cross-examination, the trooper conceded that he "moved the stimulus too quickly . . . [b]y roughly twice the speed" it should have been moved. R30 at 42:12-24. It is important to note that these requirements are the minimum times a pass should take when checking for the second and third clues. Thus, it is not enough for the trooper to aver that he "came close enough" since the NHTSA Manual again reminds those officers who administer an HGN test that the test is valid "only when" it is "administered in the prescribed, standardized manner." NHTSA Manual, Session VIII, at p.13.

Inherent in the foregoing divergence between the trooper's testimony *under oath* and the *objective* video record is the second problem with the trial court's findings of fact which make them clearly erroneous. More specifically, this Court, like the trial court, has the opportunity to review the objective video record against the testimony of Trooper Boley to determine whether the two "square up." On review, this Court will note that Trooper Boley's claim on direct examination that he administered the test in accordance with the NHTSA protocols is contradicted by the objective video record. This contradiction should lead any finder of fact to question the credibility of the witness who cannot conform his testimony to the objective, provable facts of the case. Yet, despite the contradiction between the objective truth and the testimony Trooper Boley was offering, nowhere within the four corners of the lower court's oral ruling is there an acknowledgment that the trooper's testimony is somewhat suspect, not wholly truthful, or less than credible. The lower court simply disregarded the obvious inconsistencies between what the trooper averred on the stand and what the objective video record demonstrated.

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