Brief of Respondent Filed 08-17-2022

Page 1 of 20

FILED 08-17-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Case No. 2022AP186

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

NICHOLAS ALLEN PAULSON

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER OF JUDGMENT ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DUNN COUNTY, BRANCH II, THE HONORABLE CHRISTINA M. MAYER PRESIDING, TRIAL COURT CASE NO. 18-TR-8068

#### PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

LUCAS D. ARRAS Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1104982

Dunn County District Attorney's Office 615 Stokke Parkway, Suite 1700 Menomonie, Wisconsin 54751 (715) 232-1687 Lucas.Arras@da.wi.gov

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

1. The circuit court properly held that law enforcement had probable cause to arrest Paulson.

#### A. Relevant law

To be lawful, an arrest must be based on probable cause. State v. Secrist, 224 Wis. 2d 201, 212, 589 N.W.2d 387 (1999). Probable cause for arrest exists when the totality of the circumstances within the arresting officer's knowledge would lead a reasonable police officer to believe that the defendant probably committed a crime. State v. Koch, 175 Wis. 2d 684, 701, 499 N.W.2d 152 (1993). While the information must be sufficient to lead a reasonable officer to believe that the defendant's involvement in a crime is "more than a possibility," it "need not reach the level of proof beyond a reasonable doubt or even that guilt is more likely than not." Secrist, 224 Wis. 2d at 212, 589 N.W.2d 387. Probable cause is a "flexible, commonsense measure of the plausibility of particular conclusions about human behavior." State v. Kutz, 2003 WI App 205, ¶ 11, 267 Wis. 2d 531, 671 N.W.2d 660 (emphasis added).

Probable cause is an objective standard, and courts are not bound by the officer's subjective assessment or motivation. *Id.*, ¶ 12. Indeed, "an action is 'reasonable' under the Fourth Amendment, regardless of the individual officer's state of mind, 'as long as the circumstances, *viewed objectively*, justify [the] action.' *The officer's subjective motivation is irrelevant.*" *Brigham City v. Stuart*, 547 U.S. 398, 404 (2006). (emphases added). *Accord State v. Weber*, 2016 WI 96, ¶ 19 n.6, 372 Wis. 2d 202, 887 N.W.2d 554. *See also Bond v. United States*, 529 U.S. 334, 338, n.2 (2000) ("The parties properly agree that the subjective

intent of the law enforcement officer is irrelevant in determining whether that officer's actions violate the Fourth Amendment . . . the issue is not his state of mind, but the objective effect of his actions").

When a police officer is confronted with two reasonable competing inferences, one justifying arrest and the other not, the officer is entitled to rely on the reasonable inference justifying arrest. State v. Kutz, 2003 WI App 205, ¶ 12.

#### В. Law enforcement had probable cause that Paulson was violating Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1).

After considering the evidence the suppression hearing, the circuit court concluded that there was probable cause to arrest Paulson for violating Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1). (R. 79, 5:16—23.)

The circuit court was correct. A person violates Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1) by driving under one of three circumstances: (1) while under the influence of alcohol or drugs or a combination of alcohol and drugs, (2) with a prohibited alcohol concentration, or (3) with a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his system. Here, the facts were easily sufficient to satisfy the probable cause standard and arrest Paulson for violating the statute.

First, Paulson said that he consumed an excessive amount of alcohol in "six to twelve beers." (R. 30, 7:23—8:5.) Quite frankly, it is within the contours of common experience that six to twelve beers would probably result in significant intoxication to an individual and/or a near-guarantee of a blood alcohol concentration greater than the legal limit of 08. Paulson's excessive drinking was manifested in his outward physical appearance. His eyes were bloodshot and glassy. (R. 30, 8:6—11.) His person emanated an Case 2022AP000186 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-17-2022 Page 11 of 20

odor of intoxicants. (R. 30, 6:10—16.) His vehicle, further, contained a 36 pack of beer with 12 cans missing from its top row. (R. 30, 7:4—19.) Paulson's excessive drinking of six to twelve beers is a considerable fact – both by itself, and by how it informs the nature of the other facts.

Second, Paulson exhibited significant issues with his mentation. He "initially appeared confused as to how much he had actually drank." (R. 30, 7:23—8:5.) When pressed further on his drinking, he was only able to give a non-precise, wide-range answer of "six to twelve beers." (Id.) Paulson would go on to exhibit issues with following directions by starting too soon on the Walk and Turn test, (R. 30, 13:4-12), and by not raising his leg properly for the One Leg Stand test. (R. 30, 15:11—14.) Paulson would also perform the Alphabet Test incorrectly by reciting "E, F, P, oh..." (Video of Traffic Stop, 30:02 through 30:20.) And he would make significant mistakes on the Counting Test, where he was asked to count from 64 to 49. (R. 30, 9-19). Indeed, Paulson counted "60" twice, counted "57, 56, 57, 56," counted "50" twice, paused at several moments throughout, and continued past "49" to "48" and "47" and "46" and "45." (Video of Traffic Stop, 30:20 through 30:46.) Paulson's mentation was therefore significantly impaired due to alcohol.

Third, Paulson also exhibited balance issues prior to his arrest. Indeed, upon arrival, Trooper Boley observed Paulson stumble and come closing to falling over. (R. 30, 5:23—6:9.) Paulson would go on to exhibit an observed four out of eight possible clues for the Walk and Turn test. (R. 30, 14:9—12.) It is important to emphasize that Paulson displayed these balance issues despite earlier indicating that his injury did not cause balance issues or ear pressure problems. (DVD of Traffic Stop at 23:00 to 23:43.)

Fourth, Paulson also exhibited impairment through six of six clues on the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus test. It is true that the test was not administered perfectly. However, by case law, field sobriety tests are observational tools, not scientific tests. City of West Bend v. Wilkens, 2005 WI App 36, ¶ 1, 278 Wis. 2d 643, 693 N.W.2d 324. This point is addressed further in section C, *infra*. However, at this point, it suffices to say that Trooper Boley is an experienced law enforcement officer who had observed impairment before in many individuals. (R. 30, 16:20—17:25.) See State v. Hogan, 2015 WI 76, ¶47, 364 Wis. 2d 167, 868 N.W.2d 124 (experience of officer is "a plus"); State v. Allen, 226 Wis. 2d 66, 74, 593 N.W.2d 504 (Ct. App. 1999) (training and experience of an officer is a factor to be considered in the totality of the circumstances analysis). Trooper Boley's opinion - based on all of his observations prior to Paulson's arrest - was the Paulson was under the influence of an intoxicant. (R. 30, 17:1—10.)

Fifth, and most critically, Paulson's preliminary breath test result was over two times the legal limit at .198. This fact, in combination with Paulson's admission to driving, irrefutably establishes probable cause to arrest him for a prohibited alcohol concentration offense. Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b); Wis. Stat. § 340.01(46m)(a) (establishing .08 limit). Indeed, impairment is irrelevant to such an offense. WIS JI CRIMINAL 2660A (2015-current).

Paulson tries to hand-wave this determinative fact by suggesting that "prior to administration of the preliminary breath test, Trooper Boley concluded that he had sufficient facts upon which to take Paulson into custody." (Paulson's Br. 8.)

Paulson, though, is wrong. Trooper Boley did not testify to this at the hearing – rather, he made his

conclusion based on "everything I observed from the moment I first arrived on scene *until the moment I took the defendant into custody.*" (R. 30, 17:1-10) (emphasis added). Moreover, even if Trooper Boley had believed otherwise, it would not matter. Probable cause is an objective standard, and courts are not bound by the officer's subjective assessment or motivation.  $State\ v.\ Kutz$ , 2003 WI App 205 ¶ 12.

Paulson's preliminary breath test was irrefutably administered prior to his arrest. (Video of Traffic Stop, 30:46 through 33:08.) Paulson also admitted prior to his arrest that he would "probably be over" the limit. (*Id.*) His preliminary breath test was, in fact, over two times the legal limit at .198. (*Id.*) Paulson was then appropriately arrested – both on the determinative fact of the PBT, as well as the plethora of other facts that established the low-but-fair threshold of probable cause to arrest. Accordingly, Trooper Boley's arrest of Paulson was proper.

## C. Paulson's contrary arguments are unpersuasive.

Paulson asserts several arguments in his brief that are founded upon omissions of fact, law, or both. They are therefore unpersuasive.

Throughout his brief, Paulson essentially repeats his arguments to attack the circuit court's factual findings as well as probable cause overall. However, the circuit court's factual findings were not erroneous for the reasons stated below. Further, even if they were, there was overwhelming probable cause to arrest Paulson for the reasons aforementioned, and for the reasons stated below.

Paulson argues at length about the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus test, and asserts that its administration was flawed such that any reliance upon it is contrary to alleged "common law." (Paulson's Br., 10). Paulson ignores the case law to the contrary, such as *City of West Bend* v. Wilkens, 2005 WI App 36, 278 Wis. 2d 643, 693 N.W.2d 324.

In *Wilkens*, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals upheld the circuit court's ruling admitting testimony of non-standardized tests and field tests that were not conducted following the NHTSA protocol. Id., ¶ 1. *Wilkens* held that field sobriety tests are not "scientific tests." Id. Rather, they are mere observational tools that officers commonly use to help discern various indicia of intoxication — the perception of which is necessarily subjective. Id. Indeed, "it is not beyond the ken of the average person to understand such indicia and to the form an opinion about whether an individual is intoxicated." Id.

Wilkens further rejected the proposition that following the standardized procedures that NHTSA recommends leads to scientifically valid determinations. Id., ¶ 18. Further, "even if science 'validates' observations that police officers make when administering FSTs, that would not mean the observations themselves are based on scientific phenomena rather than plain common sense." Id., ¶ 21. Accordingly, there is no reason to exclude the testimony of the field tests if they are non-standardized tests or if they are not conducted exactly pursuant to the NHTSA manual. Id., ¶ 6.

Wisconsin, moreover, does not require law enforcement officers to even give field sobriety tests to establish probable cause. *State v. Kennedy*, 2014 WI 132, ¶21, 359 Wis. 2d 454, 856 N.W.2d 834; *State v. Wille*, 185 Wis. 2d 673, 684, 518 N.W.2d 325 (Ct. App. 1994). Indeed, "passing" a field sobriety test does not, by itself, preclude a finding of probable cause. State v. *Felton*, 2012 WI App 114, ¶ 10, 344 Wis. 2d 483,

824 N.W.2d 871 ("That Felton successfully completed all of the properly administered field-sobriety tests does not ... subtract from the common-sense view that Felton may have had a blood-alcohol level that violated WIS. STAT. § 346.63(1) ...."). Even partial performance on a field sobriety test can inform the officer and can form part of probable cause. See State v. Colstad, 2003 WI App 25, ¶25, 260 Wis. 2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 39

Accordingly, Paulson's performance of a non-perfect HGN test is properly considered in the probable cause analysis. Such consideration, as the trial court appropriately noted, is limited to "some evidence" from it, as non-standardization "lessened the specific impact of the HGN test." (R. 79, 4:15—22). Moreover, as the State argued in its motion-brief:

Quite frankly, if the Trooper had been closer to Paulson and if Trooper Boley had moved his stimulus slower, he would have been in a better position to detect nystagmus.

. . .

Trooper Boley is a trained and experienced officer. When he administered the HGN test, he witnessed nystagmus which is a physical symptom of impairment. He had seen many nystagmus many times and could recognize it.

(R. 26.) This brief was expressly considered by the circuit court prior to its ruling. (R. 79, 3:9—14.)

Paulson also argues that he did not have "thickly slurred speech" per the video record, and that this hurts Trooper Boley's credibility. (Paulson's Br. 13). Paulson overlooks two things. First, Paulson's speech does appear to be slurred or less than clear at times, including during the following timestamps in the video; 20:00—20:10 ("My name's Nick."; "Your name's Nick?" "Yeah"); 21:37—21:42 ("So what, what happens

if I don't pass these tests will I [unintelligible"); 23:00—23:43 ("Uh, [I can stand a little bit?] but, it distorts me a little bit."; "It what?"; "It distorts me a little bit."; "It distorts you? What do you mean by that?"; "Like it [unintelligible])"; 27:43—27:47 ("[unintelligible]"). Second, the video record in this case does not cover law enforcement's initial contact with Paulson. However, as Trooper Boley testified:

**Boley** During the initial part of my arrival on scene, whenever [Paulson] spoke, I observed his speech to be strongly slurred – or, correction, thickly slurred. I also observed when he stood up to back away from EMS personnel that were attending to his wife, he stumbled and came close to following over.

(R. 30, 6:2—9.) This portion of testimony went unattacked by Paulson, despite him generally engaging in an in-depth cross examination. Accordingly, Paulson did have slurred speech at times, and his arguments to the contrary are misplaced.

Paulson also argues that Trooper Boley misremembered things at times and therefore has credibility issues. (Paulson's Br. 14.) However, it is not surprising that an officer may be less-than-familiar with every precise, nit-picky detail from an incident that occurred nearly nine months prior to the hearing. (R. 30, 4:3—10.) Moreover, the circuit court had the benefit of observing Trooper Boley's demeanor on the stand, and was able to view his lengthy testimony as a whole, rather than through cherry-picked examples. See State v. Anson, 2005 WI 96, ¶ 32, 282 Wis. 2d 629, 698 N.W.2d 776 ("... the trial court ... is the ultimate arbiter of both the credibility of the witnesses, and the weight to be given to each witness' testimony[.] This is especially true because the trier of fact has the opportunity to observe the witnesses and their demeanor on the witness stand.") (emphasis added).

Paulson also argues that counting his improper turn during the Walk and Turn test was wrong due to his injury. (Paulson's Br. 14.) Paulson ignores four things. First, Trooper Boley had already confirmed that Paulson did not have balance or ear pressure issues prior to the test. (DVD of Traffic Stop at 23:00 to 23:43.) Second, Paulson did not mention that he was having pain at any point during any of the tests. (Video of Traffic Stop, 23:00 through 33:08.) Third, the NHTSA Manual portions cited by Paulson do not instruct law enforcement to disregard or discount clues based on potential condition, but to instead "consider" the condition. (Paulson's Br. 15.) And fourth, even if discounting that clue, Paulson still would have exhibited three clues of impairment on the test such that he failed it. See National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, DWI Detection and Standardized Field Sobriety Test (SFST) Refresher: *Instructor Guide*, at page 171 of 201 (available online) (Rev. 02/2018).

Paulson's arguments, as a whole, omit key facts and law from their analysis. Ultimately, he appears to want to inflame and to present his version of the case as the only one that exists. In so doing, he ignores that this is not a trial where the parties' perspectives seek verdict. Rather, the analysis here is probable cause, and competing reasonable inferences are decided in favor to law enforcement. See *State v. Kutz,* 2003 WI App 205, ¶ 12.

Reasonable inferences derive from the facts. And the clear facts of our case include, *inter alia*, that Paulson consumed an excessive amount of alcohol in "6-12 beers"; that he showed significant issues with his mentation at several points; that he exhibited balances issues at several points; that he exhibited clues of impairment on the Horizontal Gaze

Nystagmus and Walk and Turn tests; and that he had a preliminary breath test result of .198, which irrefutably established probable cause.

The State will not attempt to predict Paulson's reply. Rather, the State will note only that the Court of Appeals need not address issues raised for the first time in a reply brief. *State v. Ortiz-Mondragon*, 2014 WI App 114,  $\P$  10 n 4., 358 Wis. 2d 423, 856 N.W.2d 339.

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should affirm the judgment of conviction and order denying Cormican's suppression motion.